A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The prosecutor improperly commented in closing argument 

on Matthew Bruch's constitutional rights to a jury trial and to confront 

the witnesses against him. 

2. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument 

by disparaging defense counsel. 

3. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the 

jurors' emotions in closing argument. 

4. Mr. Bruch's constitutional right to present a defense was 

violated when the trial court excluded evidence of the complaining 

witness's reputation for untruthfulness in violation ofER 608(a). 

5. The trial court erroneously imposed an indeterminate term of 

community supervision in violation ofRCW 9.94A.701(9). 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Mr. Bruch had the constitutional right to a jury trial, to be 

represented by counsel, and to confront the witnesses against him. U.S. 

Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22. The prosecutor may not 

comment on a defendant's exercise of his constitutional rights. Over 

objection, the prosecutor argued that the teenage complaining witness 

was victimized by being required to testify and submit to cross-
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examination. Is there a substantial likelihood that the misconduct 

affected the jury verdict? (Assignments of Error 1-3) 

2. The prosecutor is a representative of the State, and 

prosecutorial misconduct may deny the defendant a fair trial. u.S. 

Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22. In his closing argument to 

the jury, the prosecutor (1) commented on Mr. Bruch's exercise of his 

constitutional rights by arguing how difficult it was for the teenage 

complaining witness, J.B., to testifY and undergo cross-examination, 

(2) used emotion to appeal to the jurors' sympathy for lB. and asked 

the jury to believe her testimony due to her inconsistencies and the 

emotion she displayed on the witness stand, and (3) disparaged defense 

counsel by referring to the arguments the jury could expect her to make 

and suggesting questions she should be expected to answer in her 

closing argument. Where the case hinged on the jury's evaluation of 

lB.'s credibility, was the prosecutor's repeated misconduct so flagrant 

and ill-intentioned that no objection or instruction would have cured the 

prejudice? (Assignments of Error 1-3) 

3. The accused has the constitutional right to present a defense. 

u.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22. When a party seeks to 

impeach the credibility of a witness, ER 608(a) provides for admission 
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of evidence of a witness's reputation for untruthfulness. The trial court 

improperly excluded evidence of the teenage complaining witness's 

reputation for untruthfulness at a high school she attended. Where Mr. 

Bruch's defense depended upon impeaching the complaining witness's 

credibility, did the exclusion of evidence of her reputation for 

dishonesty at her high school violate his constitutional right to present 

his defense? (Assignment of Error 4) 

4. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) requires the trial court to 

impose a determinate sentence that does not exceed the statutory 

maximum term. The maximum term for second degree child 

molestation is 120 months. The trial court imposed a term of 116 

months followed by community custody for "at least four months, plus 

all accrued earned early release time at the time of release." CP 7. 

Where RCW 9.94A.701(9) requires the sentencing court, not the 

Department of Corrections, to reduce the term of community custody 

when the terms of confinement and community custody exceed the 

statutory maximum term, does the sentence violate the SRA? 

(Assignment of Error 5). 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Matthew Bruch had custody of his two children, daughter J.B. 

(dob 1126/95) and son Matthew (Matt), who was a year older than J.B.; 

the children's mother was an addict and not part of their lives. lRP 

101-02, 103. I Mr. Burch and the children lived in several towns in 

Washington. lRP 100. From 2001 to 2007, the family resided in Lake 

Stevens with Mr. Bruch's girlfriend Tara Kerr, her sons Jordan and 

Tristan, and often other relatives of Ms. Kerr.2 lRP 101-02; 4RP 581-

82,584. The families were blended; Mr. Bruch worked at Boeing 

while Ms. Kerr was home full-time and treated Mr. Bruch's children as 

her own. 2RP 333; 4RP 582-833,592,596-97 Ms. Kerr described a 

normal family life and noted J.B. and her father were close and had a 

good relationship. 4RP 582, 593, 597. 

When the relationship between Mr. Bruch and Ms. Kerr ended, 

he and his children moved in with his new girlfriend, Julie Mjelde in 

Stanwood. J.B. was in eighth grade. lRP 103-04; 2RP 334; 3RP 383-

84. lB. had her own bedroom in the home with a television. lRP 231. 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings of Mr. Bruch's jury trial and sentencing 
hearing contains four consecutively-numbered volumes labeled 1 to 4. Two transcripts of 
earlier hearings will not be cited. 

2 At the time of trial, Tara Kerr's name was Tara Osborn. 4RP 581. 
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Ms. Mjelde's sons Josiah and Evan and nephew William lived 

with them for part of the time. 2RP 334; 3RP 384-85. Josiah moved in 

after he completed probation for sexually abusing Evan and William, 

both of whom were younger than Josiah, and he had an alarm on his 

bedroom door.3 1RP 105, 161-62; 2RP 346; 3RP 396-98, 413-14. lB. 

and Josiah grew fond of each other were permitted to have a romantic 

relationship, but were not allowed to be alone together. 1RP 105-06, 

154; 2RP 346-47; 3RP 400-01. J.B. was 15. She believed she was in 

love with 18-year-old Josiah, and did not want to be without him. 1RP 

154-55, 159-60; 4RP 590. 

Mr. Bruch and Ms. Mjelde's rocky relationship occasionally 

became physical, and Mr. Bruch and his children would often have to 

leave her house and stay with his friends or in cars or motels. 1 RP 106-

08; 2RP 230; 3RP 385. lB. lived with her friend Elizabeth Deselms's 

family in the spring of2010. 1RP 107; 4RP 573,576. When Mr. 

Bruch's relationship with Ms. Mjelde ended in the summer of2010, 

Mr. Bruch and his children moved into the home of friends Daniel 

Hernandez and his wife Julia De La Cruz in Bothell, but J.B. 

3 One of J.B. 's cousins who resided with the family for a while when they lived 
with Ms. Kerr had also molested a younger relative. 2RP 234-35 . 
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sometimes remained at Ms. Mjelde's home. 1RP 109; 2RP 249,348, 

252; 3RP 488, 490. 

In August, Mr. Bruch wanted lB. to return to his care from Ms. 

Mjelde's house, but J.B. wanted to remain where she was. 1RP 112; 

2RP 350. In addition to her love for Josiah, J.B. was concerned by her 

father's increased anger. 1RP 113. When she learned her father had 

sent the police to get her from Ms. Mjelde's house, J.B. asked to talk to 

Ms. Mjelde alone. 1RP 113, 163; 2RP 351. J.B. did not say anything, 

but appeared upset. 2RP 351. Suspicious, Ms. Mjelde asked lB. ifher 

father did anything to her, and J.B. shook her head affirmatively. 2RP 

351. In response to Ms. Mjelde's questions, J.B. said she had been 

sexually abused during the course of her childhood when her father did 

not have a girlfriend and that the last time was after Ms. Kerr moved 

out of the Lake Stevens house. 2RP 351. J.B. hoped that she would be 

able to stay at Ms. Mjelde and Josiah's house. 1RP 164. 

Ms. Mjelde and J.B. repeated the allegation to the police who 

arrived to transport her to her father's custody, and J.B. was placed in a 

juvenile shelter. 2RP 354-56; 3RP 429,510,513. At an interview 

with a child interviewer from the Snohomish County Prosecutor's 

officer, J.B. related two incidents of child molestation. 3RP 427, 430-
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31. During a physical examination, J.B. also answered questions from 

the nurse-practitioner. 2RP 203-04,315-17. 

In August 2011, lB. was placed with a foster family but 

eventually moved in with Mr. Bruch's sister Stephanie Bruch and her 

partner Rebecca VanSteenkiste in Arizona. lRP 117-18, 128-30; 2RP 

262. One day J.B. had a conflict with her aunts and they turned off her 

cell phone. lRP 131-32; 2RP 268-69, 298-300. J.B. was angry, but 

when she calmed down she talked to her aunts about being permitted to 

date a boy she had met on a camping trip. 1 RP 132, 209-10, 213, 262-

63,271-71,288,297. J.B. did not reveal that she had sex with the boy. 

2RP 244, 252. 

J.B. still appeared upset, and her aunts encouraged her to talk. 

lRP 214015; 2RP 303. In response to leading questions from Aunt 

Stephanie, J.B. asserted for the first time that Mr. Bruch had raped her 

on two occasions. lRP 132-33, 2RP 214-15, 272, 275-277, 308. J.B. 

then gave a statement to a detective in Arizona. 2RP 219; 3RP 474. 

The Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office charged Mr. Bruch 

by amended information with two counts of child molestation in the 

second degree, two counts of rape of a child in the third degree, and a 

count of bail jumping in March 2012. CP 167-68. The bail jumping 
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charge was dismissed upon motion of the State before trial. CP 97; 

lRP 93-94. 

At trial lB. testified her memory was not clear. lRP 122; 2RP 

234,235-37,243. She remembered two incidents at the Lake Stevens 

home her family shared with Ms. Kerr's family. She said one time she 

and her father were lying on the living room couch with a sheet over 

them, and Mr. Bruch put his hand underneath her pants and underwear 

and touched her vagina. lRP 124-25; 2RP 250. She said they were 

under a sheet on the couch another time when Mr. Bruch grabbed her 

hand, put it in his pants and on his penis. lRP 125-27. 

J.B. also testified that her father had sexual intercourse with her 

two times. The first time occurred in Ms. Mjelde's bedroom in her 

Stanwood home when J.B. was 15 years old. lRP 133-34. The second 

time was at the home of Ms. De La Cruz and her husband. lRP 136. 

lB. said the second incident occurred in a small upstairs bedroom that 

her father had locked her into earlier in the day after an argument. lRP 

143, 148-50. 

Defense counsel impeached J.B. with numerous inconsistencies 

between in her testimony and her prior statements. For example, lB. 

did not mention the rapes when she was interviewed by a child 
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interview specialist only a few days after one of them occurred. 2RP 

194,197,200,203,227-28. lB. had not mentioned in several 

interviews that the alleged molestation in Lake Stevens occurred under 

a sheet until she testified. 1RP 169-70; 2RP 249; 3RP 456. J.B. 

provided details of child molestation to her friend Elizabeth that she did 

not mention or even remember on the witness stand. 2RP 206-08; 4RP 

571. 

lB. told the Arizona detective that the second rape occurred on 

a weekend only two days before she told Ms. Mjelde she was molested. 

3RP 480, 485-86. The conversation with Ms. Mjelde and report to the 

police, however, occurred on a Saturday. 3RP 505, 510-12, 540. Mr. 

Bruch also proved that the small room where lB. claimed the second 

rape occurred could not be locked from the outside. 4RP 499. J.B. told 

her aunts that a knife was involved in one incident, but did not mention 

a knife in her testimony. 2RP 285-87,307. J.B. admitted she had not 

been completely honest in her conversation with her aunts, because she 

had not revealed she had sex with the boy she wanted to date. 2RP 

218-19. 

Mr. Bruch was convicted of two counts of child molestation in 

the second degree and two counts of rape of a child in the third degree, 
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with a special finding that he and J.B. were members of the same 

household. CP 48-52. He received concurrent standard-range 

sentences of 116 months for child molestation and 60 months for rape 

of a child. CP 5-6. The sentencing court did not set a determinate term 

of community custody for the child molestation charges. CP 7. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument denied Mr. 
Bruch a fair trial. 

A criminal prosecutor plays a unique role in the criminal justice 

system that requires him to act impartially and seek a just verdict based 

upon matters in the record. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 

55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314 (1934); State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 

667,676,257 P.3d 551 (2011); State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140,146-47, 

684 P.2d 699 (1984); RPC 3.8. Washington courts have long 

emphasized that a prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument may 

violate the defendant's right to due process and a fair trial. State v. 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-04, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); Reed, 102 

Wn.2d at 146-49 (and cases cited therein); State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 

657,664-65,585 P.2d 142 (1978); State v. Carr, 160 Wash. 83,90-91, 

294 Pac. 1016 (1930); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3,22. 
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To determine if a prosecutor's comments or argument constitute 

misconduct, the reviewing court must decide first if the comments were 

improper and, if so, whether a "substantial likelihood" exits that the 

comments affected the jury verdict. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704; 

State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504,508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). Where 

the defendant does not object to the improper argument, the reviewing 

court may still reverse the conviction if the misconduct is so flagrant 

and ill-intentioned that the resulting prejudice would not have been 

cured with a limiting instruction. Id. If, however, the prosecutor's 

misconduct implicates the defendant's constitutional rights, the State 

must demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt it was harmless. Monday, 

171 Wn.2d at 680; State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228,242,922 P.2d 1285 

(1996). 

In Mr. Bruch's trial, the prosecutor's closing argument was 

improper because he (1) asserted that J.B. had been "victimized" by 

Mr. Bruch's exercise of his constitutional right to a trial and 

confronting the witnesses against him, (2) appealed to the juror's 

sympathy for J.B., and (3) disparaged Mr. Bruch's attorney. 
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a. The prosecutor's comments that J.B. was victimized by 

appearing at trial violated Mr. Bruch's constitutional rights to a trial 

and to confront the witnesses against him. Both the federal and the 

state constitutions safeguard an accused person's right to confront the 

witnesses against him. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 

22. The Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses is a fundamental 

right that applies to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. Pointer 

v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965). 

The right to "face to face" confrontation is "essential to fairness." State 

v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 810, 863 P.2d 85 (1993) (citing Coy v. 

Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 1019, 108 S. Ct. 2798,101 L. Ed. 2d 857 (1988)), 

rev. denied, 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994). 

The right of the accused to be present at trial is also essential to 

the dignity of the trial and the presumption of innocence. It is "one of 

the most basic rights guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause, Illinois v. 

Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338, 90 S. Ct. 1057,25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970), and 

is "scarcely less important to the accused than the right of trial itself." 

Diaz v. United States, 223 U.S. 442, 455, 32 S. Ct. 250, 56 L. Ed. 500 

(1912); see also Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145,155-56,88 S. Ct. 

1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 ( 1968) (fundamental right to jury trial). 
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A prosecutor commits reversible constitutional error when he 

comments on a specific constitutional right of the defendant. "The 

State may not act in a manner that would unnecessarily chill the 

exercise of a constitutional right, nor may the State draw unfavorable 

inferences from the exercise of a constitutional right." Jones 71 W n. 

App. at 810; see Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 182, 106 S. Ct. 

2464, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986) (prosecutorial misconduct during closing 

argument may infect trial with constitutional error when it "implicate [ s] 

... specific rights of the accused"); Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609, 

615,85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965) (prosecution prohibited 

from using defendant's exercise of right to remain silent against him in 

case-in-chief); State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664,705,683 P.2d 571 

(1984) (prosecutor violated defendant's due process rights by admitting 

his legal gun collection at death penalty sentencing hearing). 

In Mr. Bruch's case, the prosecutor commented on Mr. Bruch's 

constitutional rights to a trial and to confront witnesses by stressing 

how difficult it was for J.B. to be a witness: 

She came up here, and she knew what this was going to 
be like. You could see that she knew what she was 
getting herself into. And it was horrible for her; horrible 
for her to answer my questions about what happened to 
her; horrible for her to answer defense counsel's 
questions about what she might or might not have said in 
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a transcript [-J not about what actually happened to her, 
but what she said in a transcript about what happened to 
her. She was exhausted. It was very difficult for her to 
do that. But she told you. She was strong and brave, and 
she told you what happened to her. 

4RP 653 (emphasis added). 

The prosecutor was even more colorful in his rebuttal closing 

argument, claiming J.B. was "victimized" by testifying. Defense 

counsel's objection to this argument, however, was overruled. 4RP 

699. 

What are the consequences that happened to 
[J.B.]? Well, last week was a consequence. It's an 
incredibly regrettable part of our legal process that [J.B.] 
essentially was victimized all over again-

Defense counsel: Objection 

Court: Overruled. 

-- by this process. And I'm a part of that; I had to ask 
her the hard questions. Ms. Goykhman was doing her 
job by asking her hard questions, as well. And you saw 
the toll that it took on her. That's a consequence, it is 
not? 

4RP 699 (emphasis added). These comments directly faulted Mr. 

Burch for exercising his constitutional right to a trial instead of 

pleading guilty. 

This Court addressed analogous misconduct in Jones, where the 

prosecutor stressed that the defendant was trying to make eye contact 
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with the complaining witness, his girlfriend's daughter, which caused 

her to cry and break down so that she was unable to return to the 

courtroom. Jones, 71 Wn. App. at 802, 805, 806. This Court ruled that 

the prosecutor impermissibly commented on Jones's exercise of his 

constitutional right of confrontation. Id. at 811-21. The Eighth Circuit 

similarly held that a prosecutor's argument that the complaining 

witness in a sexual assault case had to "go through those humiliating 

sexual assaults and those violent acts perpetrated against her" so that 

the defense counsel could cross-examine her was egregious misconduct 

to which his trial counsel should have objected. Bums v. Gammon, 

260 F.3d 892, 895-98 (8th Cir. 2001). 

It is well-settled that prosecutorial comments on an accused 

person's fundamental rights infringe the right to a fair trial. See ~ 

Bums, 260 F.3d at 896-97 (and cases cited therein); Jones, 71 Wn. 

App. at 811. Like the comments in Jones and Bums, the prosecutor's 

argument here asked the jury to draw a negative inference from Mr. 

Bruch's decision to have a trial and confront the witnesses against him. 

4RP 653, 699. 
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b. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the 

jury's sympathy. The State must obtain convictions based on the 

strength of the evidence adduced at trial. Arguments which appeal to 

the jury's passions and prejudices invite the jury to determine guilt 

based on improper grounds and are misconduct. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 

at 704; Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d at 507; State v. Boehning, 127 Wn. App. 

511,522, III P.3d 899 (2005). The prosecutor's closing argument 

urged the jury to decide the case based upon its sympathy for J.B. and 

the emotion she exhibited on the witness stand. 

These improper comments not only asked the jury to draw a 

negative inference from Mr. Bruch's exercise of his constitutional 

rights, they also appealed to the jurors' sympathy for the young 

witness. In addition to those comments, the prosecutor argued J.B.'s 

life was "no fairy tale" to both engender sympathy for lB. and justify 

her faulty memory. 4RP 650-53. Without evidentiary support, the 

prosecutor discussed the "emotional destruction, the absolute 

devastation that happens when your father, your own father, does these 

things to you." 4RP 663. 

In rebuttal, the prosecutor asserted lB. did not wish her father 

ill, but "would do anything to have a dad who just took her fishing." 
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4RP 697. Finally, in summing up his case, the prosecutor urged the 

jury to believe J.B. because of the imperfections in her testimony and 

"the pure emotion you saw from her on the stand." 4RP 698. 

In Claflin, the prosecutor read a poem to bring home to the 

jurors the emotional impact of rape on its victims. State v. Claflin, 38 

Wn. App. 847, 850 n.3, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984), rev. denied, 103 Wn.2d 

1014 (1985). The poem touched on women's shared fear of rape and

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