NO. 69272-1-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

v.

MATTHEW C. BRUCH,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE
Prosecuting Attorney

CHARLES F. BLACKMAN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504
Everett, Washington 98201
Telephone: (425) 388-3333

2013 JUN 13 PM 1:47
COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

III. ARGUMENT

The prosecutor argued that testifying was hard for the victim. He did not call attention to the defendant’s exercise of his right to trial and confront his accusers. The prosecutor also argued that the victim did not live in a fairytale world. These arguments were not improper.

The prosecutor mentioned that the defense would present a fairytale of how the victim should have reported the sex crimes the defendant committed against her. There was no objection. This argument did not disparage counsel.

The defendant wished to present evidence of the victim’s reputation for honesty in the community of Arlington High School. The witness the defendant wished to call could only identify two very limited circles of friends within that community. Neither circle was general or neutral. In any event, the reputation was too remote in time from the trial to be admissible.

The sentence imposed by the court included a community custody component that effectuated the requirement that earned early release for sex offenders be converted to community custody. The sentence was authorized by the Sentencing Reform Act.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The defendant bears the burden of showing that the prosecutor's argument was both improper and prejudicial. Failure to object to a prosecutor's improper remark constitutes a waiver, unless the remark was so flagrant and ill intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been cured by an instruction to the jury.

State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 858-59, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

The prejudicial effect of a prosecutor's improper comments is not determined by looking at the comments in isolation but by placing the remarks in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury.

State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

"Whether a party has established proper foundation for reputation testimony is within the trial court's discretion." State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 804-05, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

"[T]his court can still affirm the lower court's judgment on any ground within the pleadings and proof." State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 242, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

“Interpretation of the SRA is a question of law that we review de novo.” State v. Jones, 172 Wn.2d 236, 242, 257 P.3d 616 (2011).

B. THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

The prosecutor did not exceed the wide latitude he was permitted in his argument to the jury. He did not invite the jury to convict the defendant for exercising his rights to a trial and to confront his accuser. The prosecutor did not improperly appeal to the sympathy of the jury. The prosecutor did not disparage the defendant’s counsel.

1. The Prosecutor’s Argument Did Not Directly Comment On The Defendant’s Exercise Of His Right To A Trial Or To Confront His Accuser.

A prosecutor has wide latitude in arguing the facts and law to the jury. However, the prosecutor may not argue in a way that “naturally and necessarily” draws an adverse inference from the defendant’s exercise of a constitutional right. See State v. Ramirez, 49 Wn. App. 332, 336, 742 P.2d 726 (1987). Here, the State did not argue that the jury should draw adverse inferences from the defendant’s exercise of his right to trial and to confront his accuser.

In the parts of the argument the defendant now complains were improper, the prosecutor argued that J.B.'s talking about her molestations and rapes was "horrible." 7/16 RP 653. In context, however, the prosecutor was arguing that J.B.'s having to talk to *anyone* about her sexual activity with her father was an ordeal. This argument was part of an effort to demonstrate why the jury should find the victim credible. The jury would not naturally or necessarily take the prosecutor's argument as a comment, not on witness credibility, but on the defendant's exercise of his right to a trial or to confront his accuser.

The defendant argues that the prosecutor's arguments "directly faulted Mr. Bruch for exercising his constitutional right to a trial instead of pleading guilty." BOA 14. He relies on State v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), review denied, 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994), and Burns v. Gamon, 260 F.3d 892 (8th Cir. 2001), to support his argument. The comments here pale in comparison to those made in Jones and Burns.

In Jones, the prosecutor stood between the defendant and the victim while the victim was testifying. When the defendant testified, the prosecutor asked him if he wasn't "frustrated because I was blocking your view from her such that you could not stare at

her as she was testifying[.]” The defendant answered, “Yes, I did.”
Jones, 71 Wn. App. at 805.

During his closing, the prosecutor argued that the defendant wanted to “have direct eye contact with [the victim]. Why?” The prosecutor then argued that as a result of that eye contact, the victim broke down, cried, and told the jury she was afraid of the defendant. Jones, 71 Wn. App. at 806.

This Court found that the prosecutor’s questioning of the defendant and argument “did constitute an impermissible use of constitutionally protected behavior.” This Court nonetheless found the error was harmless. Jones, 71 Wn. App. at 811-12.

The prosecutor here did not question the defendant or directly tie the defendant’s exercise of his right to confront his accuser to the victim’s difficulty in testifying, like the prosecutor did in Jones.

In Burns, the prosecutor argued:

And it's fair that this defendant have a trial, . . . And now it's also fair that he has Caroline Arnold come in here and he had the ability to sit there and, face-to-face, confront all of the witnesses against him, to question them through his attorney, to cross-examination, one of the finest machines invented by man to get to the truth. That was fair, and it was fair that Caroline Arnold had to go through those humiliating – [objection, overruled] – that she had to

go through those humiliating sexual assaults and those violent acts perpetrated against her in this trial so that the defendant, through his counsel, could cross-examine her.

Now it's fair that you, the Jury, who we chose on Monday, go back to your jury room and deliberate upon the punishment that this defendant deserves for the violent acts that he committed at the Red Bridge Shopping Center on December 1st.

State v. Burns, 759 S.W.2d 288, 294 (Mo. Ct. App. 1988).

The Missouri Court of Appeals found that defense counsel's objection was not sufficiently specific to have preserved anything for appellate review. Id. On habeas review, the 8th Circuit Court of Appeals found that counsel's having failed to lodge a sufficient constitutional objection to this argument constituted ineffective assistance. Burns v. Gammon, 260 F.3d at 896 (dismissing writ in part and granting writ in part).

Here, however, the prosecutor here did not ask what the prosecutor in Burns had asked, namely, for

the jury, while considering guilt and sentencing, to consider the fact that [the defendant], by exercising his constitutional right to a jury trial and to confront witnesses, forced the victim to attend trial, take the stand and relive the attack.

Id. Burns involved a prosecutor's invitation to the jury that it punish the defendant for invoking his constitutional rights. The argument of the prosecutor here, by contrast, did not ask the jury to convict

the defendant in retribution for exercising his constitutional rights to a trial and to confront his accuser.

2. The Prosecutor Did Not Improperly Appeal To The Jury's Sympathy For The Victim.

The prosecutor argued that the victim's life "was no fairytale." He then went on to recount the horrors the victim testified to about life with the defendant. 7/16 RP 651-52. The defendant did not object. This was a comment that drew a reasonable inference from the evidence that was before the jury. It was not an impermissible appeal to the jury's sympathy. See State v. Berube, 171 Wn. App. 103, 119, 286 P.3d 402 (2012) (where the prosecutor does not use inflammatory language or introduce hearsay or new evidence, but argues reasonable inferences from the evidence, there is no appeal to the jury's sympathy or passion).

The defendant cites State v. Clafin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984), review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1014 (1985), to support his argument that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the jury's sympathy. BOA 17. The case does not support the argument.

The prosecutor in Clafin read a poem to the jury about the impact of rape on the victim. The poem contained "vivid and highly inflammatory imagery in describing rape's emotional impact on its

victims[.]” Clafin, 38 Wn. App. at 850. The Court of Appeals found the only purpose of the poem was to appeal to the passions of the jury. Further, the poem “contained many prejudicial allusions to matters outside the actual evidence against Clafin.” Clafin, 38 Wn. App. at 851.

There was nothing remotely like the poem read in Clafin in the prosecutor’s argument here. There was no appeal to the passions or sympathy of the jury.

3. The Prosecutor Did Not Disparage The Defendant’s Counsel.

The prosecutor argued that the defendant’s counsel would present a “fairytale version” of how the victim should have reported the crimes. 7/16 RP 652-53. The defense had made a point of drawing out instances when the victim could have disclosed the defendant’s crimes against her but did not, including her failure to disclose a rape that had happened days earlier when she was being interviewed at Dawson Place. The prosecutor’s comment was a reasonable inference from the evidence that the defendant would argue the failure to disclose completely should discredit the testimony of the victim. While the comment may have disparaged counsel’s *argument*, that is not misconduct. See State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 566, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) (not misconduct to label

counsel's argument as ludicrous when it was wildly improbable), State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (not misconduct to argue that evidence did not support the defense argument).

Likewise, the prosecutor's comment that counsel would talk for a "long while" was prompted by her statement to the court that she anticipated that her closing would be "lengthy." 7/12 RP 552.

The defendant relies on State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011), State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied, 129 S.Ct. 2007 (2009), State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984), and State v. Negrete, 72 Wn. App. 62, 863 P.2d 137 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1030 (1994), to argue that the prosecutor disparaged his counsel. BOA 17-18. Reviewing the defendant's notations of the comments made by the prosecutors in those cases show that the prosecutor here did not disparage counsel.

The comments in those cases were as follows: Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 451-52 (misconduct to refer to defense counsel's argument as "bogus" and a "sleight of hand"); Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 29-30 ("misrepresentations" in defense counsel's argument as an example of "what people have to go through in the criminal justice

system when they deal with defense attorneys"); Reed, 101 Wn.2d at 146-67 (disparaging defendant's counsel and witnesses as outsiders with fancy cars); and Negrete, 72 Wn. App. at 66-67 (misconduct to argue defense counsel was paid to twist words).

The prosecutor here said nothing remotely like the comments condemned in the above cases. There was no disparagement of counsel.

C. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ALLOWING THE DEFENDANT TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S REPUTATION FOR HONESTY.

A criminal defendant's constitutional right to present a defense is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations and includes the right to offer testimony and examine witnesses. But that right is not absolute and does not guarantee the admission of irrelevant or otherwise inadmissible evidence.

State v. Rafay, 168 Wn. App. 734, 799-800, 285 P.3d 83 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013) (citations omitted).

Before reputation evidence may be introduced, the proponent must show:

[T]he first element is the foundation for the testimony—the knowledge of the reputation of the witness attacked. Second, the impeaching testimony must be limited to the witness's reputation for truth and veracity and may not relate to the witness's general, overall reputation. Third, the questions must be confined to the reputation of the witness in his community ... Fourth, the reputation at issue must not

be remote in time from the time of the trial. Finally, the belief of the witness must be based upon the reputation to which he has testified and not upon his individual opinion.

State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 873, 822 P.2d 177, 203 (1991), cert. denied 506 U.S. 856 (1992), quoting K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Practice: Evidence § 231 at 202–04 (3d ed. 1989); see generally ER 608a) and K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Practice: Evidence §§ 608.1 – 608.21 at 418-467 (5th ed. 2007).

The defendant wanted to present testimony that the victim's reputation for honesty in Arlington High School was bad. 7/13 RP 563-64. Before the witness testified, the State was allowed to voir dire him outside the presence of the jury. The court found that the witness described two communities: his circle of friends and his cousin's girlfriend's circle of friends. The court found that neither community was general or neutral. The court's ruling was correct.

"To establish a valid community, the party seeking to admit the reputation evidence must show that the community is both neutral and general." State v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500, 851 P.2d 678 (1993); see K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Practice: Evidence § 608.4 at 428 (5th ed. 2007) (same). The community of the witness's circle of friends was not neutral because part of the basis for the victim's reputation was the witness telling at least two of those friends that

the victim falsely accused him of sexually assaulting her. 7/13 608-09. The circle of friends of the witness's uncle's girlfriend was not general in that it only consisted of a few girls, and the witness only knew the names of two of them. 7/13 RP 608.

Even if the court's ruling that the communities were neither general nor neutral was wrong, the evidence still was not admissible. The fourth element that must be established according to Professor Tegland, is that "the reputation at issue must not be remote in time from the time of the trial." Lord, 117 Wn.2d at 873; see K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Practice: Evidence § 608.4 at 429 (5th ed. 2007). Reputation that is from several months before the trial is too remote in time. Gregory 158 Wn.2d at 805.

Here, the reputation was from when the victim attended Arlington High School. That was during the school year 2010-2011. The victim moved to Arizona in August, 2011. 7/11 RP 256. The trial was in July, 2012. The passage of at least 11 months between when the reputation was formed and the trial made the reputation too remote in time to be admissible. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 805.

This decision of the trial court to not allow the stale reputation evidence was not an abuse of discretion.

D. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE COURT WAS AUTHORIZED BY THE SENTENCING REFORM ACT (SRA).

The court sentenced the defendant to a definite term of confinement of 116 months. The court reduced the term of community custody to “at least 4 months, plus all accrued earned early release time at the time of release.” CP 7. The total did not exceed the statutory maximum sentence for second degree child molestation of 120 months. The sentence effectuated the provisions of the Sentencing Reform Act.

Second degree child molestation is a violation of RCW 9A.44.086.³ Violations of RCW 9A.44.086 are sex offenses. RCW 9.94A.030(46).⁴ Felony sex offenders are sentenced to community custody pursuant to RCW 9.94A.701(a).⁵ The Department of Corrections (DOC) supervises persons convicted of sex offenses. RCW 9.94A.501(4).⁶ Any earned early release time is converted to community custody. RCW 9.94A.729(5)(a).⁷ The sentence imposed ensured these provisions of the SRA were complied with.

³ A copy of RCW 9A.44.086 is at Appendix A.

⁴ “‘Sex offense’ means: (a)(i) A felony that is a violation of chapter 9A.44 RCW, other than RCW 9A.44.132[.]” RCW 9.94A.030(46).

⁵ A copy of RCW 9.94A.701(a) is at Appendix B.

⁶ A copy of RCW 9.94A.501(4) is at Appendix C.

⁷ A person who is eligible for earned early release as provided in this section and who will be supervised by the department pursuant to RCW 9.94A.501 or 9.94A.5011, shall be transferred to community custody in lieu of earned release time[.] RCW 9.94A.729(5)(a).

This is not an illegal sentence. See State v. Winkle, 159 Wn. App. 323, 331, 245 P.3d 249 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1007 (2012) (“We hold that the court’s decision to impose a term of community custody for the period of earned early release not to exceed the statutory maximum sentence complied with the SRA and is consistent with the clear intent that a sex offender must be transferred to community custody in lieu of earned early release.”).

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